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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
LOUISVILLE DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v.
Case No.
LUKE JOHN FLINT, a/k/a
“coronavaccine.center”;
“coronavaccine.today”;
“coronatesting.site”;
“coronatesting.center”;
“coronavaccine.shop”;
“coronavaccine.club”; and
“covid19vaccine.center”

3:20CV-489-CHB

Defendant.

MOTION TO ENTER AGREED PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
Pursuant to the Anti-Fraud Injunction Statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1345, and Rule 65 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the United States of America (“the United States”), through the
undersigned counsel, hereby respectfully requests that the Court enter the Agreed Preliminary
Injunction, and other equitable relief to prevent Defendant Luke John Flint (“Defendant”) from
committing violations of the federal wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343. In support of this
motion, the United States avers as follows:
FACTUAL BACKGROUND
On or about March 13, 2020, the Defendant registered the following domain names
through GoDaddy.com: coronavaccine.center, coronavaccine.today, coronatesting.site,
coronatesting.center, coronavaccine.shop, and coronavaccine.club. Exhibit 1, Declaration of
Special Agent Kay Brose, ¶5 (hereinafter “Brose Decl. at ¶_.”). On or about March 28, 2020, the
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Defendant registered the domain name covid19vaccine.center through GoDaddy.com. Id.
GoDaddy.com is headquartered in Scottsdale, Arizona and incorporated in Delaware. When a
consumer enters the Defendant’s domain names coronavaccine.today, coronatesting.site,
coronatesting.center, coronavaccine.shop, coronavaccine.club, or covid19vaccine.center into a
search engine, he or she is automatically directed to Defendant’s coronavaccine.center website.
Id.
On May 27, 2020 Special Agent Kay Brose, from a computer located in Louisville,
Kentucky, visited the Defendant’s “coronavaccine.center” website. Id. at ¶6. Special Agent
Brose observed that the Defendant’s website offers “Coronavirus (COVID-19) Vaccine
wholesale distribution online!” Id. at ¶6, Exhibit A. The website attempts to lure consumers to
“pre-register” for a non-existent Covid-19 vaccine in exchange for $100 worth of Bitcoin
(“BTC”), a type of cryptocurrency. Id. at ¶7. The Corona Vaccine Center also has a Facebook
page with a link to the website. Id.
The main page of the Defendant’s website advertises “Corona Vaccine Center – Corona
Testing Center – Corona Vaccine Club”. Id. at ¶6, Exhibit A. It further offers “Wholesale
distribution online for Corona vaccine and related supplies[.]” Id. It states “Corona Vaccine
Center is a decentralized blockchain distribution ledger for direct placement of vaccine to be
easily obtained by all customers who require cost effect [sic] direct access.” Id.
Under the “Contact Us” link on the Defendant’s website, it states “Corona vaccine
and wholesale medical supplies available for sale.” Id. The Defendant’s website has a
button displayed underneath the contact information stating, “Bitcoin Accepted for preorders (click).” Id. at ¶10. When a consumer clicks on the button it opens up two fields for
the consumer to enter his or her name, shipping address, email and cell phone number along
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with a separate box to add a message if needed. Id. It also has a box to check with the
following text, “$100 BTC payment: 3CGKRgJLnqsHjprRamwWz2LV2D4A2f5Hur.” Id.
Checking the box prompts consumers to fill out the remaining fields in order to complete the
pre-registration process for a Covid-19 vaccine and send $100.00 in payment to Bitcoin
address listed.
The Defendant’s website and Facebook page list the Corona Vaccine Center’s address as
545 S Clay St Louisville, KY. Id. at ¶11. An open source satellite map image shows that the
listed address for the Corona Vaccine Center is an open field/parking lot just east of the
University of Louisville Hospital. Id. On June 3, 2020, Special Agent Brose drove to 545 S.
Clay Street, Louisville, KY 40202 and found the address to be an empty parking lot/field that
had a Keller Williams Realty for sale sign posted. Id. The Jefferson County PVA public records
show this address is a vacant lot owned by Hard as Steel LLC, a Kentucky limited liability
company managed by Defendant. Id. at ¶¶12-13.
Defendant Flint, through his “coronavaccine.center” website and related domain names,
has engaged in, is engaging in, or is about to engage in a wire fraud scheme that exploits the
current Covid-19 pandemic. The claims made on the website are false and misleading. The
United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) has confirmed that there is currently no
vaccine available for the coronavirus a/k/a Covid-19. Id. at ¶8.
On May 27, 2020, Homeland Security Investigations notified GoDaddy of the fraudulent
statements made on the “coronavaccine.center” website, at which time GoDaddy suspended the
website for a period of ninety days. Id. at ¶14.
On July 8, 2020, HSI Special Agents Brose and Richards went to 2839 Brownsboro
Road, Louisville, Kentucky and spoke with Defendant. Id. at ¶15. Defendant acknowledged that
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he is aware that there currently is no known FDA approved Covid-19 vaccine and that it is
unclear if and when a vaccine will become available. Id. In addition, Defendant stated that he is
not a licensed medical professional and he is not registered with the FDA to investigate or
develop a Covid-19 vaccine, and as such, he could not legally distribute a vaccine. Id.
Defendant stated that he intended the Corona Vaccine Center website to facilitate the availability
of a vaccine to anyone who needs one, anywhere in the world. Id. He stated that he intended the
website to be utilized as a service to connect customers who do not have access to a vaccine due
to lack of regional infrastructure or vaccine shortage with vaccine suppliers in a drop shipping
capacity. Id. During their conversation, Special Agent Brose asked Defendant if he would be
willing to sign an Agreed Preliminary Injunction. Id. at ¶16. Special Agent Brose allowed the
Defendant to review the document and asked if he had any questions. Id. The Defendant signed
the Agreed Preliminary Injunction in both Special Agent Brose’s and Special Agent Richards’s
presence. Id.
ARGUMENT
The United States is entitled to relief under 18 U.S.C. § 1345, the Anti-Fraud Injunction
Statute. The facts set forth above and in the attached declarations of HSI Special Agent Brose
establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant has engaged in, is engaging in, or is
about to engage in a wire fraud scheme. The Court, therefore, should issue immediate injunctive
relief in order to protect future victims of the fraud from monetary injury.
I.

The Traditional Elements To A Preliminary Injunction Are Not Applicable When
The Government Seeks An Injunction Pursuant To A Federal Statute That Was
Enacted To Protect The Public Interest.
Section 1345 of Title 18 of the United States Code (“Section 1345”) authorizes the

United States to “commence a civil action in any Federal court to enjoin” persons who are
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“violating or about to violate” provisions of the federal wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343. See
18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(1)(A). Section 1345 further provides that a district court “shall proceed as
soon as practicable” and “may, at any time before final determination, enter such a restraining
order or prohibition, or take such other action, as is warranted to prevent a continuing and
substantial injury to the United States or to any person or class of persons for whose protection
the action is brought.” 18 U.S.C. § 1345(b) (emphasis added). Congress enacted Section 1345 as
part of the Comprehensive Crime Control Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-473, § 1205(a), 98 Stat.
1837, 2152 (1984), to ensure that innocent people would not “continue to be victimized” by
fraudulent schemes during the “months, if not years, before [a] case is ready for criminal
prosecution.” S. Rep. 225, 98th Cong., 2d Sess. 401-02, reprinted in 1984 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3182,
3539-40.
The traditional standards for the granting of injunctive relief by the district court requires
a four part analysis:
1) It had a strong or substantial likelihood of success on the merits; 2) irreparable
injury would result if the injunction were not granted; 3) no substantial harm would
result to defendants or others; and 4) the public interest would be served by issuing
the injunction.
United States v. Brown, 988 F.2d 658, 660 (6th Cir. 1993). However, the traditional test for the
issuance of an injunction does not apply where the United States is seeking an injunction
pursuant to a federal statute that was enacted to protect the public interest and that authorizes
injunctive relief. United States v. Narco Freedom, Inc. 95 F. Supp. 3d 747, 754 (S.D.N.Y.
2015). Once the United States demonstrates by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant
is violating a relevant statute, no specific finding of irreparable injury is necessary. See United
States v. Am. Therapeutic Corp., 797 F. Supp. 2d 1289, 1291 (S.D. Fla. 2011). “Where … the
statue was enacted to protect the public interest and itself authorizes injunctive relief, the passage
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of the statute is in a sense, an implied finding that violations will harm the public and ought, if
necessary, be restrained.” Id. (internal quotations and citations omitted). Section 1345 provides
broad relief, authorizing a court to “enter such a restraining order or prohibition, or take such
other action, as is warranted to prevent a continuing and substantial injury to the United States or
to any person or class of persons for whose protection the action is brought.” 18 U.S.C. §
1345(b). Although the United States is not required to prove the traditional four part analysis,
the United States has satisfied the analysis nevertheless.
This Court should issue relief pursuant to Section 1345 relief if the United States
demonstrates by a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant committed, is committing,
or is about to commit wire fraud. See Brown, 988 F.2d at 663-64. The preponderance of the
evidence standard means “such evidence as, when considered and compared with that opposed to
it, has more convincing force and produces in your minds belief that what is sought to be proved
is more likely true than not true.” Williams v. Eau Claire Public Schools, 397 F.3d 441, 446 (6th
Cir. 2005) (internal quotations omitted).
A court “may issue a preliminary injunction without an evidentiary hearing when the
facts are not disputed.” Sierra Club, Lone Star Chapter v. F.D.I.C., 992 F.2d 545, 551 (5th Cir.
1993) (citation omitted). “Furthermore, at the preliminary injunction stage, the procedures in
the district court are less formal, and the district court may rely on otherwise inadmissible
evidence, including hearsay evidence.” Id. “Thus, the district court can accept evidence in the
form of deposition transcripts and affidavits.” Id.
II.

Defendant Has Violated, Is Violating, Or Is About To Violate Criminal Laws And
Injunctive Relief Should Be Granted Under 18 U.S.C. §1345(a)(1).
The United States is able to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant

has engaged in, is engaging in, or is about to engage in a wire fraud scheme through his website
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and Facebook account for “coronavaccine.center” and the related domains. Section 1343 of Title
18 of the United States Code provides criminal penalties for anyone who, “having devised or
intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by
means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises,” uses an interstate wire or
causes an interstate wire to be used “for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice.” 18
U.S.C. § 1343. To establish wire fraud, the United States must show (1) that the defendant
knowingly participated in a scheme to defraud; (2) “that the scheme included a material
misrepresentation or concealment of material fact;” (3) “that the defendant had the intent to
defraud;” and (4) that the defendant used interstate commerce in furtherance of the scheme.
United States v. Birnie, 193 Fed. Appx. 528, 535 (6th Cir. 2006) (unpublished).
The United States’ investigation shows that Defendant is intentionally making false and
misleading statements for the purpose of inducing potential victims to make payments to him
with digital currency. The Defendant registered seven domain names with GoDaddy.com, a
Delaware corporation headquartered in Scottsdale, Arizona. He established the
coronavaccine.center website, which falsely claims that it can provide a non-existent vaccine for
Covid-19 amid the global pandemic. At a minimum, the website is accepting “pre orders” for a
vaccine that does not exist and it is unknown if and when a vaccine will exist. Defendant has
acknowledged that a vaccine for Covid-19 does not exist. Brose Decl. at ¶15. Moreover,
Defendant has acknowledged that he is not a medical professional or registered with FDA. Id.
Thus, even if a vaccine did exist, Defendant may not distribute it even if he had access to it.
Defendant has acknowledged that the United States can establish by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant is about to violate or is violating 18 U.S.C. §1343 by agreeing to the
entry of a preliminary injunction.
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Immediate relief is warranted to stop Defendant’s scheme. While the Department of
Homeland Security informed GoDaddy about the false and misleading claims on the
“coronavaccine.center” website, it has only suspended the website for a period of ninety days.
The scope of the Agreed Preliminary Injunction is tailored to halt the fraudulent activity and
prevent potential victims from accessing the “coronavaccine.center” website. This website has
no legitimate purpose, creates confusion among intended victims, and will lead consumers to
suffer financial losses by paying the fee to either order or pre-order the non-existent vaccine. The
immediate entry of the Agreed Preliminary Injunction to stop the fraudulent scheme and to shut
down this website is therefore necessary and appropriate to prevent harm to consumers. See 18
U.S.C. § 1345(a)(1)(A) and (B) (stating that if a person is “violating or about to violate” the mail
fraud or wire fraud statutes, the court “may, at any time before final determination, enter such a
restraining order or prohibition, or take such other action, as is warranted to prevent a continuing
and substantial injury to the United States or to any person.”).
CONCLUSION
Defendant is operating a predatory wire fraud scheme that exploits the current Covid-19
pandemic. The facts summarized above and set forth in more detail in the declaration of Special
Agent Brose provide by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant has engaged in, is
engaging in, or is about to engage in a wire fraud scheme and will continue to do so unless
enjoined by the Court. Defendant has agreed to this Court enjoining his conduct.
Accordingly, the United States requests that this Court enter the Agreed Preliminary
Injunction to prevent Defendant from operating this fraud scheme.
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Respectfully submitted,
RUSSELL M. COLEMAN
United States Attorney

s/ Nicole S. Elver
William F. Campbell
Nicole S. Elver
Assistant United States Attorneys
717 West Broadway
Louisville, KY 40202
Phone No. (502) 582-6893
Fax No. (502) 625-7110
Counsel for the United States
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EXHIBIT
1
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DECLARATION
OF SPECIALAGENTKAYBROSE
I, Kay Brose, have personal knowledge of the facts set forth below, and if
called as a witness I would testify as follows:
1.

I am a Special Agent with the Department of Homeland Security,

Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Homeland Security Investigations ("HSI"), and
have been since January 2019. Prior to HSI, I worked as a Special Agent for the United
States Secret Service ("USSS") from 2017-2019. Prior to that, I worked as a police
officer for the Indiana Gaming Commission ("IGC") from 2011-2017. I am currently
assigned to HSI Louisville, Kentucky.
2.

Throughout my courses of study, I received instruction in constitutional,

immigration, and criminal law as well as criminal and civil statutes. As a Special Agent,
I am responsible for the investigation of violations of federal law, including
violations of Title 18 of the United States Code.
3.

The facts set forth in this declaration are based on my personal

knowledge, knowledge obtained during my participation in this investigation,
information from other individuals including other law enforcement officers, and my
review of documents, public records, and other sources.
4.

Based on my training and experience and the facts as set forth in this

declaration, there is evidence to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence
that the Defendant Luke John FLINT ("Defendant FLINT") is violating or is about
to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud) and related crimes were attempted to be
committed by Defendant FLINT.
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5.
of

On or around March 13, 2020, GoDaddy.com, LLC registered on behalf

Defendant FLINT,

the

www.coronavaccine.today.

domain

names

as

www.coronavaccine.center,

www.coronatesting.site,

www.coronatesting.center,

www.coronavaccine.shop, www.coronavaccine.club. On or around March 28, 2020,
GoDaddy.com, LLC registered on behalf of Defendant FLINT the domain name
www.covid19vaccine.center. When a consumer enters any of the last six domain
names into a search engine, they all filter/reroute back to the main website
www.coronavaccine.center.
6.

On May 27, 2020 at approximately 1506 hours EDT, I visited the

"coronavaccine.center" website from a computer located in Louisville, Kentucky.
A true and correct copy of the website as it appeared to me is attached to this
declaration as ExhibitA.
. 7.

As shown in Exhibit A, the website attempts to lure consumers

to "pre-register" for a non-existent CO VID-19 vaccil).e in exchange for $100. 00
worth of Bitcoin ("BTC"). The Corona Vaccine Center also has a Facebook
page with

8.

a link to the website.

On June 01, 2020, I reviewed the official United States Food and

Drug Administration ("FDA") website (www.fda.gov) for additionalinformationas it
pertains to cmrent FDA approved COVID-19 vaccines (https://www.fdagov/news-

events/press-annmmcements/coronavirus-covid-'i
9-update-daily-roundup-may-29-2020).
That website specifically advises that "there are currently no FDA-approved products
to prevent or treat COVID-19.11 A true and correct copy of the relevant portion of the
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FDA's website is attached to this declaration as ExhibitB. I further confirmed the
above with an FDA representative.
9.

As shown in Exhibit A, the website shows the following information

on the bottom of the page:
Contact Us
Coronavirus (COVID-19) Vaccine
Corona vaccine and wholesale medical supplies available for sale.
Corona Vaccine Center
545 S. Clay St, Louisville, KY 40202
502-383-9977
Info@Corona Vaccine. Center
10. The website has a button displayed underneath the contact information
stating, "Bitcoin Accepted for pre-orders (click)". When I clicked on the button it opened
up two fields for the consumer to enter his or her name, shipping address, email and cell
phone number along with a separate box to add a message if needed. I further observed
that the website, underneath the message box, contains the following text: "$100 BTC
payment: 3CGK.RgJLnqsHjprRamwWz2LV2D4A2f5Hur" along with a box to check.
11. An open source satellite map image shows that the listed address for the
Corona Vaccine Center located at 545 S. Clay St, Louisville, KY 40202 is an open
field/parking lot just east of the University of Louisville Hospital. On June 3, 2020, I drove
to 545 S. Clay Street, Louisville, KY 40202 and found the address to be an empty parking
lot/field that had a Keller Williams Realty for sale sign posted. Pictures of the address are
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attached to this declaration as Exhibit C.
12. An open source search with the Jefferson County, Kentucky PVA website
for the 545 S. Clay Street, Louisville, Kentucky 40202 address determined that the
owner of the property is Hard As Steel, LLC.
13. An additional open source search with the Kentucky Secretary of State
Business

search website determined that Defendant

FLINT is listed as the

MANAGER/CEO for Hard As Steel LLC. A true copy of the annual report online
filing for Hard As Steel LLC is attached to this declaration as Exhibit D.
14.

On May 27, 2020, the HSI Cyber Crimes Center sent an email request

to GoDaddy.com, LLC to have the "coronavaccine.center" website temporarily
suspended. As of approximately 1700 hours EDT that day, "coronavaccine.center" will
not be able to be found by a Google search for a period of ninety (90) days.
15.

On July 08, 2020, HSI Special Agents Kay Brose and Scott Richards

went to 2839 Brownsboro Rd, Louisville, Kentucky 40202 and spoke with Defendant
FLINT. Defendant FLINT stated that he is aware that there currently is no known FDA
approved Covid-19 vaccine and that it is unclear if and when a vaccine would become
available. Additionally, Defendant FLINT stated that he is not a licensed medical
professional and is not registered with the FDA to be able to distribute a Covid-19
vaccine if and when one becomes available. Defendant FLINT also stated that the
website

www.coronavaccine.center

is

intended

to

facilitate

the

potential

movement/availability of a Covid-19 vaccine anywhere in the world and not
specifically domestically within the United States. Defendant FLINT stated that he
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intended the www.coronavaccine.center website to be the point of contact for
individuals who are unable to obtain a Covid-19 vaccine, once available, due to lack
of regional infrastructure or vaccine shortage. Defendant FLINT further stated that the
www.coronavaccine.center website would be utilized as a service to connect those
customers with vaccine suppliers in a drop shipping capacity.
16.

During our conversation I asked Defendant FLINT if he would be

willing to sign an Agreed Preliminary Injunction. I allowed Defendant FLINT to
review the document and ask any questions. Defendant FLINT signed the Agreed
Preliminary Injunction in both my as well as HSI Special Agent S. Richards presence .

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C . § 1746, I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that
the foregoing information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Executed on July 09, 2020, in Louisville, Kentucky.

Special Agent
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FDA NEWS RELEASE

Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update :
Daily Roundup May 29, 2020
...,.
MorePtossAnnoU/lcements

For Immediate Release:

May 29, 2020
Content current as or:

Press Announcements

0512912020

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration todny announced the following actions taken in its
ongoing response effort to the COVID-19 pandemic:
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ongoing response effort to the COVID-19 pandemic:
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• FDA is making its previously developed FDA MyStudies app available to investigators
as n free platform to securely obtain patients' informed consent for elig,'ble clinical
trials when face -to-face contact is not possible or practical due to COVID-19 control

MadleelDovico•
Health Toplc(s)

1nroct1ou•
oi.eo,e

measures. FDA MyStudies is now referred to as COVID MyStudies in the Apple App
store and in the Google Piny store.

Cotonawu•

• As part of the FDA's efforts to protect consumers, the agency issued warning letters to
two companies for selling fraudulent COVID-19 products.

Follow FDA

Thereare currently no

Follow@US_FOA
Fo(lowFDA
Follow ®FDAmodia

FDA-approved products to prevent or treat COVID-19. Consumers concerned about
COVID-19 should consult with their he.n.1thc.orc provider.

• The first seller lo whom FDA sent a warning letter was Qundrnnt Sales &
Marketing, Inc., which offers non-alcohol-based hand sanitizer products for sale
in the United States with false or misleading claims including that the products
maintain their effectiveness for up to 24 hours. Time-specific extended efficacy
claims may give users the folse impression that they need not rigorously adhere
to inteiventions such as social distancing and engaging in good hygienic
practices that have been demonstrnted to curb the spread of COVID-19.

• The second seller to whom FDA sent n warning letter was StnyWell Copper
Products, which offers copper "Germ Stopper• products for sale in the United
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xueseeunu seue1co wnum1DRsent a watucng1ecce1was ocay,teu copper
Products, which offers copper"Germ Stopper• products for sale in the United
States with misleading claims that the products are snfe o.nd/or effective for the
prevention ofCOVID-19.

• Today, the FDA took steps to further support the development of COVID-19 tests for
at-home self-collection by providing on its website a template that may beused to
facilitate submission of requests for emergency use nuthorizations (EUA) for at-home
sample collection kits. As e.'Cplainedin FDA's guidance, Policy for COVID-19 Tests
During the Public Health Emergency (Revised), this template reflects FDA's current
thinking on the datn nnd informotion that developers should submit to facilitate the
EUA process. In particular, this template includes recommendations for use by
laboratories and commercial manufacturers who may choose to use it to facilitate the
preparntion and submission of nn EUA request. CurrenUy, developers can offer a
COVIO-19 test for at-home self-collection where specifically authorized under on EUA
or as part of an Institutional Review Board (IRB)·approved study.
• Testing updates:
• Ou.ring the COVID-19 pandemic, the FDA has worked with more than 400 test
developers who have alreody submitted, or said they will be submitti .og, EUA
requests to the FDA for tests thnt detect the virus or antibodies to the virus.

• To date, the FDA has authorized 114 tests under EUAs, which include 101
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FDAlortests that detecl the vrrusor antibodies lo the virus.

• To date, the FDA has authorized 114 tests under EUAs, which include 101
molecular tests, 12 antibody tests, and 1 antigen test.
The FDA, an agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, protects
the public health by assuring the safety, effectiveness, and security of human and
veterinary drugs, vaccines and other biological products for human use, and medical
devices. The agency also is responsible for the safety and security of our nation's food
supply, cosmetics, dietary supplements, products that give off electronic radiation, and for
regulating tobacco products.
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Consumer:

Lee Herring

888-INFO-FDA

240-402-6366

Related Information
• FAQs on Testingfor SARS-CoV-2

• PolicyforCororwjn,s Djsease:2019Tests raring the PublicHealthEmergency
(Revised)

_ c.,..,...., 0u,, ,. 20,.rcov10-1•1_

• Coronavin,s Disease 2019 (COVID-tg)

FDA Archive

Visitor Information

FOIA

AboutFDA

WebsitePolicies/Privacy

HHS.gov
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